# THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Visual Evoked Potential Correlates of Cooperative

and Competitive Integration in Motion Perception

by

Mohamed Ahmad

### A THESIS

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

# DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

### DEPARTMENT OF NEUROSCIENCE

## CALGARY, ALBERTA

### **AUGUST**, 1993

© Mohamed Ahmad 1993



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 du Canada Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

Bibliothèque nationale

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce. loan, distribute sell copies or of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à Bibliothèque la nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette disposition thèse à la des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission. L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-93846-3

Canada

Mohamed Ahmaa Name

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

CUROSLICACE

SUBJECT TERM

SUBJECT CODE

### **Subject Categories**

### THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

### **COMMUNICATIONS AND THE ARTS**

Architecture	0/29
Art History	0377
Cinema	0900
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	0357
Information Science	0723
Journalism	0391
Library Science	0399
Mass Communications	0708
Music	0413
Speech Communication	0459
Theater	0465

### **EDUCATION**

General	.051	5
Administration	051	4
Adult and Continuing	051	6
Agricultural	051	7
Art	027	73
Bilingual and Multicultural	028	3Ž
Business	068	18
Community College	027	75
Curriculum and Instruction	072	)7
Early Childhood	051	ĩ.
Flomentany	052	žĂ
Finance	022	77
Guidance and Counseling	051	ιó
Health	0.6	λÓ
Hickor	07	15
History of	05	šň
Lama Economica	. 03	70
Frome Economics	02/	51
	.054	20
Language and Literature	.02/	50
Manematics	.020	30
	.00/	<u>22</u>
Philosophy of	.022	<u>'8</u>
Physical	105	13

n

### Psychology ..... Sciences ......0714 Vocational ......0747

### LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND LINGUISTICS

579
289
290
291
401
292
295
297
298
316
591
305
352
355
593
311
312
315
313
314

# THEOLOGY Philosophy .....0422 Philosopny ..... Religion 0318 Biblical Studies 0321 Clergy 0319 History of 0320 Philosophy of 0322 Thankary 0469 **SOCIAL SCIENCES** 0202

PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND

American ologies	0020
Anthropology	
Archaoology	0324
	0324
Cultural	0326
Physical	0327
Business Administration	
Dusiness Administration	
General	0310
Accounting	0272
Banking	0770
buiking	
Management	0454
Marketina	0338
Canadian Shidian	
Canadian Sibales	0365
Economics	
General	0501
Agricultural	0502
Agriculiural	0503
Commerce-Business	0505
Finance	0508
Listers	
riișiory	0509
Labor	0510
Theory	0511
Falldara	
FOIKIOFE	0356
Geography	0366
Gerontology	0351
Lister .	
LI STOLA	
General	0578

Medieval     0581       Modern     0582       Black     0328       Adrican     0331       Asia, Australia and Oceania     0332       Canadian     0334       European     0335       Latin American     0333       Middle Eastern     0333       United States     037       Justory of Science     0585       General     0615       International Law and Relations     0616       Public Administration     0617       Social Work     0452       Social Ogy     0626       Criminology and Penology     0627       Public and Racial Studies     0631       Industrial and Labor     0628       Relations     0629       Public and Social Welfare     0620       Studies <td< th=""><th>Ancient</th><th>057</th><th>79</th></td<>	Ancient	057	79
Modern     0582       Black     0328       Akrican     0331       Asia, Australia and Oceania 0332     0333       Canadian     0334       European     0335       Latin American     0333       United States     0337       Tistory of Science     0585       Ceneral     0615       International Law and     Relations       Relations     0616       Public Administration     0617       Sociology     0626       General     0626       Criminolegy and Penology     0628       Ethnic and Racial Studies     0631       Individual and Family     0628       Individual and Family     0628       Individual and Family     0628       Industrial and Labor     0629       Public and Social Welfare     0620       Social Structure and     0629       Development     0700       Development     0700       Judies     0629       Public and Social Welfare     0340       Theory and Methods     0344	Medieval	05	٦î
Black     0328       African     0331       Asia, Australia and Oceania 0332     0334       Canadian     0334       European     0335       Latin American     0333       United States     0337       Visited Eastern     0333       United States     0333       United States     0337       Valitacal Science     0585       General     0615       International Law and     Relations       Relations     0616       Public Administration     0617       General     0626       Criminology     0627       Demography     0938       Ethnic and Racial Studies     0631       Individual and Family     0628       Industrial and Labor     Relations     0629       Public and Racial Studies     0628       Industrial and Labor     Relations     0629       Public and Social Welfare     0600       Studies     0700       Theory and Methods     0340       Development     0700       Theory and Regional Planning     07992 <td>Modern</td> <td>05</td> <td>źż</td>	Modern	05	źż
African 0331 Asia, Australia and Oceania 0332 Canadian 0334 European 0335 Latin American 0336 Middle Eastern 0336 Middle Eastern 0337 fistory of Science 0585 aw 0398 folitical Science 0615 International Law and Relations 0616 Public Administration 0616 Public Administration 0617 Relations 0617 Social Work 0452 Sociology 0628 General 0628 General 0628 Criminology and Penology 0628 General 0628 Criminology and Penology 0628 Criminology 0628 Crimino	Black	03	ว์ลิ
Asia, Australia and Oceania 0332 Canadian	African	ŏž	λĭ
Canadian	Asia Australia and Oceania	22,	ŝò
European	Canadian	22.	ź,
Latin American	Furopean	22.	55
Middle Eastern	Lotin American	23	52
United States	Middle Eastern	22	20
General Administration 0319 Social Science 0398 Solitical Science 0398 Solitical Science 0415 International Law and 0416 Relations 0417 Recreation 0417 Recreation 0417 Recreation 0417 Recreation 0417 Recreation 0417 Social Work 0452 Sociology 0426 General 0426 General 0426 Criminology and Penology 0428 Ethnic and Racial Studies 0428 Ethnic and Racial Studies 0428 Industrial and Labor Relations 0429 Public and Social Welfare 0429 Theory and Methods 0344 Transportation 0709 Jiban and Regional Planning 0429	United States	23	33
An arr and a second sec	Jistony of Science	03	2/
aw	history or ocience	030	22
Yourical Science     0615       General     0615       International Law and     0616       Public Administration     0617       Recreation     0617       Social Work     0452       Beneral     0626       Criminology and Penology     0627       Demography     0631       Individual and Family     Studies       Studies     0628       Industrial and Labor     Relations       Relations     0629       Public and Social Welfare     0620       Social Structure and     0270       Development     0700       Theory and Methods     0344       Tensportation     0709       Jrban and Regional Planning     0709	aw	03:	78
General	Control Science	~~	
International Law and Relations	General	00	I D
Kelctions     0617       Public Administration     0617       Social Work     0452       Social Work     0452       General     0626       Criminology and Penology     0627       Demography     0638       Ethnic and Racial Studies     0638       Individual and Family     Studies       Studies     0628       Industrial and Labor     Relations       Relations     0629       Public and Social Welfare     0602       Development     0700       Theory and Methods     0340       Jrban and Regional Planning     0709	International Law and	~ ~ ~	
Public Administration	Kelations	00	10
tecreation 0814 Social Work 0452 Sociology General 0627 Demography 0627 Demography 0638 Ethnic and Racial Studies 0631 Individual and Family Studies 0628 Industrial and Labor Relations 0629 Public and Social Welfare 0629 Development 0700 Theory and Methods 0344 Iransportation 0709 Juban and Regional Planning 0929	Public Administration	00	2
social Work	(ecreption	08	4
Sociology General	ocial Work	043	52
General	bociology		
Criminology and Penology	General	06:	26
Demography	Criminology and Penology	062	27
Ethnic and Racial Studies0631 Individual and Family Studies	Demography	093	38
Individual and Family Studies	Ethnic and Racial Studies	063	31
Studies	Individual and Family		
Industrial and Labor Relations	Studies	062	28
Relations	Industrial and Labor		
Public and Social Welfare 0630 Social Structure and Development	Relations	062	29
Social Structure and Development	Public and Social Welfare	063	30
Development	Social Structure and		
Theory and Methods	Development	070	00
Transportation	Theory and Methods	03	44
Jrban and Regional Planning 0999	ransportation	ŐŽ	<u> </u>
	Jrban and Regional Planning	090	5ó
Women's Studies U/23	Nomen's Studies	ň4	52

### THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

### **BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES**

General	0473
Agronomy	0285
Animal Culture and	
Nutrition	0475
Animal Pathology	0476
Food Science and	
Technology	0350
Forestoy and Wildlife	0478
Plant Culture	0479
Plant Pathology	0480
Plant Physiology	0817
Range Management	0777
Wood Technology	0746
Biology	0/ 40
General	0306
Anotomy	0287
Biostatistics	0308
Botany	0309
Cell	0379
Ecology	0329
Entomology	0353
Genetics	0369
Limnology	0793
Microbiology	0410
Molecular	0307
Neuroscience	0317
Oceanography	0416
Physiology	0433
Radiation	0821
Veterinary Science	0778
Zoology	0472
Biophysics	
Géneral	0786
Medical	0760
EADTH COLENCES	
EARIN SCIENCES	0405
biogeocnemistry	
Geocnemistry	0776

Geodesy	)370 )372 )373 )388 )411 )345 )426 )426 )418 )985 )427 )368 )427 )368 )415
HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL	
SCIENCES	
Environmental Sciences	0768
Health Sciences	
General	3566
Audiology	0080
Chemotherapy	2992
Dentistry	3567
Education	2350
Hospital Management	7/67
Human Development	1/28
immunology	J782
Medicine and Surgery	1304
Nueniai riedin	1547
Nursing	1507
Obstatzias and Gunagalagy	1200
Occupational Health and	5500
Thorapy	1354
Ophthalmology	1281
Pathology	5571
Pharmacology	5419
Pharmacy	0572

Public Health .....0573

Recreation ......0575

0574

Radiology .....

### PHYSICAL SCIENCES

**Applied Sciences** 

**Pure Sciences** 

Chemistry	
General	0485
Aaricultural	0749
Analytical	0486
Biochemistry	0487
Inorganic	0488
Nuclear	0738
Organic	0490
Pharmaceutical	0491
Physical	0494
Polymer	0495
Radiation	0754
Mathematics	0405
Physics	0.00
General	0605
Acoustics	0986
Astronomy and	
Astrophysics	0606
Atmospheric Science	0608
Atomic	0748
Electronics and Electricity	0607
Elementary Particles and	0007
High Energy	0798
Fluid and Plasma	0759
Molecular	0609
Nuclear	0610
Optics	0752
Radiation	0756
Solid State	0611
Statistics	0463

Engineering General 0.537 Industrial 0546 Marine 0547 Materials Science 0794 Mechanical 0548 Metallurgy 0743 Mining 0551 Nuclear 0552 Packaging 0549 Petroleum 0765 Sanitary and Municipal 0554 System Science 0790 Geotechnology 0428 Operations Research 0796 Plastics Technology 0795 Textile Technology 0994 Industrial .....0546

### PSYCHOLOGY

463

General	062
Behavioral	0384
Clinical	0622
Developmental	0620
Experimental	0623
ndustrial	062
Personality	062
Physiological	0989
Psýchobiology	0349
Psýchometričs	0632
Social	045

Dissertation Abstracts International est organisé en catégories de sujets. Veuillez s.v.p. choisir le sujet qui décrit le mieux votre thèse et inscrivez le code numérique approprié dans l'espace réservé ci-dessous.

SUJET

CODE DE SUJET

Ancienne ......0579

### Catégories par sujets

### **HUMANITÉS ET SCIENCES SOCIALES**

#### **COMMUNICATIONS ET LES ARTS**

Architecture	0729
Beaux-arts	0357
Bibliothéconomie	0399
Cinéma	0900
Communication verbale	0459
Communications	0708
Danse	0378
Histoire de l'art	0377
Journalisme	0391
Musique	0413
Sciences de l'information	0723
Théâtre	0465

### ÉDUCATION

Généralités	515
Administration	0514
Art	0273
Collèges commungutaires	0275
Compered	0268
	00000
Economie domestique	02/0
Education permanente	0210
Education préscolaire	0518
Education sanitaire	0680
Enseignement garicole	0517
Enseignement bilingue et	
multinultural	0282
municonorei	0202
Enseignement industriel	0521
Enseignement primaire	0524
Enseignement protessionnel	0747
Enseignement religieux	0527
Enseignement secondaire	0533
Encoignoment spécial	0529
Enseignement supériour	0715
Enseignement superieur	0745
Evaluation	0288
Finances	02//
Formation des enseignants	0530
Histoire de l'éducation	0520
Langues et littérature	0279
	~~/ /

# 0535 Lecture . Mathématiques .....0280 Physique .....0523 Programmes d'études et

### LANGUE, LITTÉRATURE ET LINGUISTIQUE ١a

Langues	
Généralités	0679
Anciennes	.0289
Linguistique	0290
Modernes	0291
Littérature	
Généralités	0401
Anciennes	0294
Comparée	0295
Mediévale	0297
Moderne	.0298
Africaine	.0316
Américaine	0591
Anglaise	0.59
Asiatique	030
Canadienne (Analaise)	035
Canadienne (Francaise)	0354
Gormanique	0311
Latino-amóricaino	0312
Mayon-orientale	0314
Demana	0212
Komane	.0313
Slave et est-europeenne	.0314

### PHILOSOPHIE, RELIGION ET

Philosophie	0422
Religion Généralités	0318
Çlergé	0319
Histoire des religions	0321
Philosophie de la religion	0322

### SCIENCES SOCIALES

Anthropologie
Archéologia 0324
Culturalla 0326
Dhusique 0327
Diala 0200
Droir
Economie 0501
Generalites
Commerce-Attaires
Economie agricole
Economie du travail
Finances
Histoire
Théorie0511
Etudes américaines0323
Études canadiennes0385
Études féministes0453
Folklore
Géographie 0366
Gérontologie 0351
Gestion des affaires
Généralités 0310
Administration 0454
Banawaa 0770
Compare 11/14
Marketing
Histoire
Histoire générale

# Européenne 0335 Moyen-orientale 0333 Latino-américaine 0336 Asie, Australie et Océanie 0336 Histoire des sciences 0585

## SCIENCES ET INGÉNIERIE

### **SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES**

Agriculture Généralités ..... 0473 0359 Biologie Généralités ..... 0306 Generalites 0306 Anatomie 0287 Biologie (Statistiques) 0308 Biologie moléculaire 0307 Botanique 0309 Cellule 0379 Ecologie 0329 Entomologie 0353 Génétique Limnologie Microbiologie Neurologie Océanographie Interiore 0369 0410 0317 Physiologie ..... 0433 Radiation ..... Science vétérinaire ..... 082 Zoologie ..... .0472 Biophysique Généralités ..... 0786 Medicale ......0760

### **SCIENCES DE LA TERRE**

Biogéochimie	0425
Géochimie	0996
Géodésie	0370
Géographie physique	0368

# .0372

### SCIENCES DE LA SANTÉ ET DE L'ENVIRONNEMENT

Économie domestique Sciences de l'environnement Sciences de la santé	.0386 .0768
Sciences de la santé Généralités Administration des hipitaux . Alimentation et nutrition Audiologie Chimiothérapie	0566 0769 0570 0300 0302
Dentisterie Développement humain Enseignement	0567 0758 0350
Immunologie Loisirs Médecine du travail et	.0982
thérapie Médecine et chirurgie Obstétrique et avnécologie	.0354
Ophtalmologie Orthophonie	.0381 .0460
Pharmacie Pharmacologie Physiothéranie	.0572
Radiologie Santé mentale Santé publique	.0574
Soins infirmiers Toxicologie	.0569

### **SCIENCES PHYSIQUES**

Sciences Pures
Chimie
Genéralités0485
Biochimie
Chimie agricole
Chimie analytique0486
Chimie minérale0488
Chimie nucléaire0738
Chimie organique0490
Chimie pharmaceutique 0491
Physique0494
PolymÇres0495
Radiation0754
Mathématiques
Physique
Généralités0605
Acoustique
Astronomie et
astrophysique
Electronique et électricité0607
Fluides et plasma0759
Météorologie0608
Optique0752
Particules (Physique
nucléaire)0798
Physique atomique0748
Physique de l'état solide 0611
Physique moléculaire
Physique nucléaire0610
Radiation
Statistiques0463
Sciences Appliqués Et
Technologie
Informatique 0984
Ingénierie
Généralités 0537
Agricola 0537

Automobile .....0540

Biomédicale	.0541
Chaleur et ther	
modynamiaue	.0348
Conditionnement	
(Emballage)	0549
Génie gérospatia	0538
Génie chimique	0542
Génie civil	0543
Génie électronique et	
électrique	0544
Génie industriel	0546
Génie mécanique	0548
Génie nuclégire	0552
Ingénierie des systèmes	0790
Mécanique novale	0547
Métalluraie	0743
Science des matériaux	0794
Technique du nétrole	0765
Technique minière	0551
Techniques sanitaires et	
municipales	0554
Technologie bydraulique	0545
Mécanique appliquée	0346
Géotechnologie	0428
Matières plastiques	420
(Technologie)	0795

ъ

### **PSYCHOLOGIE**

Généralités	0621
Personnalité	0625
Psychobiologie	0349
Psychologie clinique	0622
Psychologie du comportement	0384
Psychologie du développement	0620
Psychologie expérimentale	0623
Psychologie industrielle	0624
Psychologie physiologique	0989
Psychologie sociale	0451
Psychométrie	0632

# THE UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled, "Visual Evoked Potential Correlates of Cooperative and Competitive Integration in Motion Perception" submitted by Mohamed Ahmad in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science.

Stuart G. Coupland, Depts. of Pediatrics, Clinical Neurosciences and Surgery (Supervisor)

Douglas B. Bowling, Dept. of Medical Physiology

Edward V. Famiglietti, Dept. of Anatomy

Vincent Di Lollo, Dept. of Psychology, University of Alberta

16 93 Date

Abstract

In their cooperative-competitive model of motion integration, Snowden and Braddick (1989a,b) propose that, when stimulated, localized motion-detecting neurons tuned to the same direction of motion mutually enhance each other's activity while suppressing the activity of neurons tuned to other directions. These interactions are presumably mediated by excitatory and inhibitory post-synaptic potentials. Visual evoked potentials (VEPs) provide an index to neuronal integration since they reflect the gross synaptic activity of thousands of cortical neurons. VEPS were recorded in eight subjects in response to random dot kinematogram (RDK) stimuli. As predicted by the cooperative-competitive model, VEP amplitude increased with the proportion of dots moving in the same direction even though the total number of RDK dots remained constant. Two subsequent experiments ruled out the combination of morphologically dissimilar VEPs evoked by dissimilar directions and the contribution of neurons sensitive to motion at stimulus edges as alternate explanations for the trend observed in the first experiment. Orthogonal directions of motion appeared to be as mutually competitive as opposite directions. Ninety seconds of motion adaptation to unidirectional rightward RDKs reduces subsequent VEP amplitudes for unidirectional rightward RDKs. These findings provide human electrophysiological support for Snowden and Braddick's (1989) cooperative-competitive visual model of motion integration.

iii

### Acknowledgements

I wish to express my heart-felt gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Stuart G. Coupland, and the rest of my supervisory committee as well as my volunteer observers for the time and effort they contributed towards making this thesis possible. I also wish to extend that gratitude to Micheline Deschenes for her superb advice and assistance and to Dr. Barry Kimberley for permitting me the use of his lab equipment. Finally, I wish to thank the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research for their generous financial support.

# Table of Contents

Approval Page	ü
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Figures	vi
Introduction	1
Cooperative-Competitive Integration in Motion Perception	2
Psychophysical Support for Cooperative-Competitive Motion Integration	6
Physiology of Motion Processing and Directionally-Selective Neurons	11
Physiological Support for Cooperative-Competitive Motion Integration	14
Motion Adaptation and Cooperative-Competitive Integration	17
Motion Visual Evoked Potentials	21
General Methods	25
Subjects	25
Stimuli and Apparatus	25
Procedure	28
General Results	29
Exp. 1: How does RDK Coherence Affect mVEP Amplitude?	31
Exp. 2: Do Different Directions of Motion Produce Equivalent mVEPs?	35
Exp. 3: Does Motion Along or Against an Edge Affect the mVEP?	38
Exp. 4: Are Orthogonal Directions of Motion Mutually Inhibitory?	41
Exp. 5: Does Motion Adaptation Produce Disinhibition of Competing Directions?	44
Discussion	47
Motion VEP Validity	47
Motion VEPs and Cooperative-Competitive Integration	50
Anatomy and Cooperative-Competitive Integration	56
Integration of Non-Translational Motion	57
Figure-Ground Segregation and Cooperative-Competitive Integration	57
Epistemology	58
Literature Cited	59

.

.

# List of Figures

1	Schematic of cooperative-competive network.	3
2	Directionally-selective channels.	4
3	Sample random dot kinematogram.	7
4	Recording of visual evoked potential.	22
5	Superimposed mVEPs from O1, O2, Oz channels.	30
6	Single subject mVEPs from RDKs of varying coherence.	33
7	Pooled amplitude and latency data for varying RDK coherence.	34
8	Addition of morphologically dissimlar mVEPs.	35
9	Single subject mVEPs for RDKs moving in each of four directions.	37
10	Pooled amplitude and latency data for RDKs moving in each of four directions.	37
11	Single subject mVEPs for square and elongated RDKs.	40
12	Pooled amplitude and latency data for square and elongated RDKs.	40
13	Single subject mVEPs for noise opposite or orthogonal to signal direction.	43
14	Pooled amplitude and latency data for opposite and orthogonal noise.	43
15	Single subject mVEPs recorded after 90 seconds of rightward adaptation.	46
16	Pooled amplitude and latency data for 90 seconds of rightward adaptation.	46
17	Superposition principle applied to mVEPs recorded from multidirectional RDKs.	52

### Introduction

Although objects in the real world are perceived as wholes, the cells comprising the visual system are individually capable of detecting and representing only small parts of an object's image. At each stage of the neural hierarchy from retinal ganglion cells to visual association cortex, the outputs of many lower-order neurons are integrated by higher-order neurons into larger and more complex representations of the outside world. This hierarchical integration presumably leads to the complete representation of an object.

Neuronal integration is often nonlinear in that neurons may interact before their outputs are summed. These interactions may involve mutual facilitation among similarly-tuned neurons (cooperation) or inhibition between dissimilarly-tuned neurons (competition). As a result, the detectability of objects is enhanced by amplifying dominant stimulus features while irrelevant detail is attenuated. Recent psychophysical research suggests that the perceived coherence of moving stimuli is enhanced by cooperative-competitive networks of motion-detectors. It has been hypothesized that, within such networks, motion detectors tuned to similar directions enhance each other's activity while suppressing detectors tuned to competing directions (Snowden and Braddick, 1989a,b). The experiments described here use visual evoked potentials as physiological measures of cooperative-competitive integration in motion perception.

### **Cooperative-Competitive Integration in Motion Perception**

Cooperative-competitive motion integration is similar in principle to lateral inhibition. Lateral inhibition involves mutual inhibition between luminance detectors on opposite sides of an edge and tends to elevate the perceived contrast across edges. Cooperative-competitive motion integration presumably enhances the perceived coherence - or uniformity of motion - of moving stimuli.

In motion perception, cooperative-competitive integration is hypothesized to involve an interconnected network of motion detectors located within a given retinotopic area. When stimulated, local motion detectors tuned to the same direction of motion mutually enhance each others' activity while inhibiting the activity of detectors tuned to competing directions (Snowden and Braddick, 1989a,b). This model is called the cooperative-competitive integration model of motion perception and is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. All motion-detecting neurons within a given segment of the visual field are assumed to interact in a cooperative-competitive network. Detectors tuned to the same direction excite each other when stimulated but inhibit all detectors tuned to competing directions. This pattern of activity tends to enhance the detectability of dominant directions relative to other directions.

Psychophysicists often describe the visual system in terms of channels or populations of similarly-tuned neurons. As Figure 2 illustrates, the motion-processing system consists of 8 to 12 directionally-selective channels; each channel is comprised of all motion-detecting neurons responsive to a 30 to 45 degree range of directions (Levinson and Sekuler, 1980; Raymond, 1993). A moving image will activate neurons primarily in the channel responsible for the object's direction of movement and if the activity exceeds some perceptual threshold level, the observer will consciously perceive motion . in that direction. Thus the perceived direction of a moving stimulus depends on the distribution of activity it evokes among the directionally-selective channels.

Although the channels may share some overlap, linear models of integration assume they operate independently (ie. without interacting). Described in terms of channels, cooperative-competitive motion integration involves intrachannel facilitation and mutual interchannel inhibition.



Figure 2. All motion detectors tuned to similar directions are organized into channels. Each channel is responsive to a 30 to 45 deg range of directions. When a channel's activity exceed some perceptual threshold, motion in that direction is perceived.

The cooperative-competitive integration of neural activity presumably enhances global direction detectability by improving the perceptual coherence of moving stimuli. This is especially important when stimuli are not moving in a uniform direction such as a tree in the wind. Such stimuli activate a broad range of motion-detectors possibly precluding detection of the overall direction of motion. When one direction of motion is dominant, motion-detector activity will be most concentrated in the dominant direction's channel. Intrachannel facilitation will be greatest in the dominant direction and will be lesser in other channels. Furthermore, the dominant channel will undergo less interchannel inhibition from the weaker competing channels. As a result, activity in the dominant direction will increase at the expense of activity in other directions and the dominant direction will appear more coherent than it actually is. For example, a slight breeze may cause individual leaves on a tree to move in different directions at different velocities. The local motions of individual leaves are still visible but the overall direction of motion is generally obvious.

Because of cooperative-competitive integration, dominant motion signals are amplified and less-dominant motion signals are attenuated. In an ideal motion-detection system, a rigidly moving object should activate only one directional channel: the channel responsive to the object's direction of movement. However in reality, the visual system is not immune to noise. Sources of noise include the visual system's background activity, the aperature problem/ and multiple contours or regions of the same object not moving in synchrony such as in the tree example above.

The physical laws governing object motion permitted the evolution of signal-enhancing mechanisms within the visual system. Since objects generally move uniformly, the predominant direction must be the correct direction and other directions must be incorrect. Since proximal retinal images tend to belong to the same object, the visual system can safely assume they should move in the same direction (Yuille and Grzywacz, 1988). Moving objects also tend to move along a constant trajectory over time (Anstis and Ramachandran, 1983). As a result, the dominant direction should be amplified and other directions attenuated. The cooperative-competitive network described above accommodates all these requirements and its neural implementation is not difficult to envisage (see below). The model is rationally sound. Lappin and Kottas (1976) offer an example of committee members who must cooperate on popular consensus and suppress dissent in order to speak with one voice - or at least appear to. In motion perception, the prime role of cooperative-competitive integration is to extract the global direction of stimulus motion from disparate local motion signals.

### **Psychophysical Support for Cooperative-Competitive Motion Integration**

Nonlinear integration in motion perception was first described using a class of stimuli called random dot kinematograms (RDKs). RDKs, which were first described by Braddick (1974), are square patches of hundreds of randomly positioned tiny dots as illustrated in Figure 3. At regular temporal intervals, all the dots simultaneously undergo apparent motion which is a discrete spatial displacement rather than a continuous drift. If all the dots in an RDK are displaced in the same direction, and displacement size and time interval between displacements are small enough - 100 ms and 10 min-arc, the

RDK appears to move smoothly and uniformly; the perception is of global motion. As a result, apparent motion is an adequate simulation of real motion (Barbur, 1981; Anstis et al., 1985). Perceived motion in television and film is actually apparent motion since the actions are presented not continuously but as a series of discrete frames.



Figure 3. An RDK is a patch of randomly positioned dots. The number of dots can vary from a few dozen to many thousands. At regular time intervals, all the dots are displaced in an experimenter-determined direction. Dots that move past an edge are wrapped around to the opposite edge. When the displacement distance is sufficiently small, smooth global motion is perceived. The RDK can contain any number of frames.

The observer's task in RDK experiments is to determine the global or dominant direction of motion. Apparent motion studies often utilize RDKs in which the dots have been divided into two interspersed groups: signal and noise dots. Signal dots move uniformly in an experimenter-determined direction and the remaining noise dots move in random directions. Except for direction of motion, signal and random dots are indistinguishable. RDKs are ideal stimuli for psychophysical investigation of cooperative-competitive integration since the signal and noise components can be independently controlled. The proportion of signal dots to the total number of dots is referred to as the RDK's coherence. High coherence RDKs produce strong percepts of uniform motion in the signal direction, whereas, low coherence RDKs produce percepts of local random motions. RDKs contain no discernible edges, have short frame durations, and their dots are too numerous and randomly positioned, to allow observers to infer the global direction of motion by consciously tracking individual dots. As a result, the perception of global RDK motion must rely on the lower-level integration of local dot displacements (Braddick, 1974; Anstis, 1980). High coherence RDKs produce smooth global motion presumably because they stimulate activity concentrated in one directionally-selective channel. Low coherence RDKs stimulate activity across many directionally-selective channels producing little global motion.

Perceived motion coherence is not linearly related to statistical coherence, however, since observers often report RDKs to be more directionally coherent than would be predicted from the RDKs' statistical coherence (eg. Chang and Julesz, 1984; Williams and Sekuler, 1984). The cooperative-competitive network can account for this phenomenon. Examples of competition in motion perception have existed since the early 1970s. In the past decade, support for motion cooperativity has grown as well. Signs of cooperativity typically include disorder-order transitions, bistable states and hysteresis as discussed below.

8

Levinson and Sekuler (1973, as cited in Sekuler and Levinson, 1974) found that for the detection of rightward motion, a drifting bidirectional left-right sine-wave grating is less effective in adapting motion selective mechanisms than a drifting unidirectional rightward grating of equal contrast. They concluded that the leftward component in the bidirectional stimulus must have reduced the adaptational efficacy of the rightward component by inhibition. Based on this observation, Sekuler and Levinson (1974) proposed that motion detectors tuned to opposite directions inhibit one another.

Lappin and Kottas (1981) found that two superimposed RDKs moving in opposite directions were competitive since increasing the coherence of one RDK reduced the detectibility of coherent motion in the second RDK. Later, Chang and Julesz (1984) conducted a study in which adjacent RDK strips were arranged to form a square. They found that strips of low coherence would appear to be moving in the same direction as adjacent strips of higher coherence presumably because of some mechanism favouring coherence. This phenomenon, motion capture, persisted even if the incoherent strips were biased 25% in the direction opposite the direction of the coherent strips.

Williams and Sekuler (1984), Williams and Phillips (1987) and Williams et al. (1986) provided evidence for cooperativity in a study of "motion hysteresis", which is the persistence of a stable percept even after the inducing stimulus has changed. They constructed RDKs in which the dots moved within

9

a dynamically variable range of directions. If the range of directions was narrow enough, observers reported coherent motion in the mean direction of motion. Williams and his colleagues found that observers would report a normally incoherent wide-range (ie. > 90 deg) RDK to be coherent only if immediately preceded by a narrow-range RDK (ie. < 90 deg). They concluded that some cooperative process was maintaining the percept of coherent motion in time.

Adelson and Movshon (1982) and Snowden (1989) reported that competition occurs not only between opposite directions of motion but also between orthogonal directions of motion as well. Snowden (1989) found that vertical motion can reduce the detectibility of horizontal motion by a factor of one half when vertical and horizontal RDKs were superimposed. He also found that random motion was less effective than coherent vertical motion at suppressing horizontal motion presumably because noise activates many competing channels which will also mutually inhibit each other.

Snowden and Braddick (1989a,b, 1990) report that as the number of frames in an RDK increases, observers' ability to judge the true direction of motion correctly improves in a sigmoidal fashion. Snowden and Braddick suggest that nonlinear gains in sensitivity are mediated by long-lived interactions between motion-detectors. Based on this finding and previous research by others, they formulated the cooperative-competitive network model.

RDKs were originally used to demonstrate two types of apparent motion: long-range and short-range (Braddick, 1974). Long-range apparent motion is believed to be mediated by high level cognitive processes and is involved in the perception of object displacements greater than 15 min arc or temporal intervals greater than 100 ms. Short-range apparent motion is a low-level process believed to be directly mediated by specialized motion-detecting neurons. Short-range apparent motion is limited to dot displacements of 15 min arc or less and temporal intervals less than 100 ms. The motion cooperativity studies cited above involved short-range apparent motion; experiments involving long-range apparent motion fail to demonstrate cooperativity (Williams and Phillips, 1987). As a result, motion cooperativity is believed to be mediated at the very early stages of motion detection in visual cortex (Braddick, 1974).

### **Physiology of Motion Processing and Directionally-Selective Neurons**

Motion-detecting neurons have been identified at all levels of the visual system from retinal ganglion cells in rabbits (Barlow and Levick, 1965) to extrastriate cortex in macaque monkeys (eg. Baker and Cynader, 1986). Although motion-related information is conveyed to subcortical structures such as the superior colliculus, striate and extrastriate cortex are primarily such as the superior colliculus, striate and extrastriate cortex are primarily responsible for processing object motion in humans and other primates.

Due to ethical considerations, physiological experimentation in humans is limited. Physiological correlates of motion perception are sought in closely related primates such as the macaque monkey which has a visual system that closely parallels the human visual system (van Essen, 1985). Since much cortical work has been conducted using cats, consideration of the feline visual system is also useful. Visual cortex is divided into numerous retinotopically-organized areas. Several appear to be specialized for processing particular visual submodalities such as texture, color or motion. Directionally-selective (DS) cells have been identified in layer 4B of striate cortex (V1) and these project to extrastriate area MT, the medial temporal area (Lund, 1988; see Figure 4).

In cat and monkey, cells in the LGN lack orientation-selectivity and direction-selectivity but V1 cells exhibit both properties (Schiller et al., 1976). This suggests that V1 is the primary site at which directional information is extracted in higher primates. Studying macaque V1, Hubel and Wiesel (1968) found that half the complex cells are directionally-selective since these cells "showed highly asymmetric responses to diametrically opposite directions of movement." Most unidirectional cells were located in layer 4B. Schiller et al. (1976) confirmed Hubel and Wiesel's findings for complex cells but reported directional-selectivity in macaque simple cells as well. Using a more conservative directional-selectivity criterion, half-maximum response amplitude, De Valois et al. (1982) reported that about one-third of macaque striate cells were unidirectional regardless of simple-complex groupings. Striate cortex clearly contains a large concentration of motion-sensitive neurons.

Area MT is a relatively small cortical area- about 33 mm<sup>2</sup> in area or 3% the size of V1 (van Essen, 1985); it is buried deep within the superior temporal sulcus in primate parietal cortex. Area MT receives its major input from V1. Area MT cells differ from V1 cells primarily in that they have larger receptive fields (van Essen, 1985). This suggests that MT neurons integrate the outputs of many V1 neurons. Area MT has been identified in all primates studied and is assumed to have an analog in humans. Mikami et al. (1986) report that about 50% of area MT neurons are directionally-selective. Psychophysicists have associated area MT with motion perception and lesions to the putative human area MT reduce patients' ability to discriminate stimuli moving in different directions (Newsome and Pare, 1988). Adjacent to area MT are the medial superior temporal (MST) and ventral intraparietal (VIP) areas. Both receive major input from area MT but their functions are not well understood.

### **Physiological Support for Cooperative-Competitive Motion Integration**

If the cooperative-competitive model is correct, motion in the nonpreferred direction should suppress a neuron's spontaneous firing rate by competitive inhibition. Hubel and Wiesel (1968) found that movement in nonpreferred directions did not suppress spontaneous activity in V1 neurons and often evoked a small increase in activity. However, Schiller et al. (1976) report the opposite: movement in the nonpreferred direction produces a small degree of inhibition in many V1 cells. Mikami et al (1986) report findings similar to Schiller et al. (1976) for area MT neurons. These and similar studies typically involve unidirectional stimuli. To study motion integration as conceptualized in the cooperative-competitive model, however, it would be necessary to stimulate with multidirectional motion stimuli.

Even though some psychophysical researchers have proposed area MT as the site of motion cooperativity (eg. Snowden and Braddick, 1989a), empirical support for this hypothesis is weak. Support for cooperativity and competition between neurons in striate cortex is stronger. Inhibitory interactions occur in striate cortex between orientation detectors tuned to different orientations (Blakemore and Tobin, 1972, Matsubara and Cynader, 1983). Blakemore and Tobin (1972) found that by stimulating a cell with an optimally oriented bar, varying the orientation of a background grating reduced the cells' responsiveness when the background grating orientation differed from the bar orientation by less than 90 degrees. Blakemore and Tobin (1972) suggested that inhibition among cells in neighbouring columns serves to sharpen a cell's tuning curve and may be a fundamental property of sensory cortex.

Hubel and Wiesel (1962) and De Valois et al. (1982) propose that V1 neurons' orientation specificities derive from inhibitory interactions between cells rather than simple summation of excitatory inputs. In addition to supporting the Snowden and Braddick model of motion-processing, this may explain why inhibition is typically not observed when a nonpreferred stimulus is presented alone. De Valois et al. (1982) suggest that broadly tuned cells provide inhibitory input to narrowly-tuned orientation-detecting cells in order to further narrow orientation tuning. GABA antagonists, which block intracortical inhibition, are known to reduce neural orientation selectivity (eg. Pettigrew and Daniels, 1973). This data supports the role of inhibition in sharpening neural tuning. The cooperative-competitive model suggests that inhibitory mechanisms improve directional tuning in motion perception.

Ts'o et al. (as cited in Gilbert, 1985) found intrinsic facilitatory connections among cells with similar receptive field properties. These were short-range horizontal connections which may mediate interaction among similarly tuned cells. The lengths of the connections were typically one hypercolumn wide suggesting links connecting neighbouring hypercolumns. Based on similar data, Mitchenson and Crick (1982) proposed a physiological pattern processing model similar to Snowden and Braddick's motion cooperativity model. Specifically, Mitchenson and Crick propose that striate cortex's facilitatory and inhibitory interconnections sharpen orientation tuning. When Berkeley and Bush (1983) attempted to interrupt such connections in V1, they found a reduction in orientation tuning.

Area MT's intrinsic connectivity is not well investigated. Weller et al. (1984) report area MT columns that exchange intrinsic connections but the functions of those connections was not investigated. Conceivably, the connections could be similar to striate cortex's facilitory and inhibitory connections.

It was suggested above that investigating cooperative-competitive motion integration at the cellular level requires stimulation with multidirectional stimuli. In a study reminiscent of Snowden (1988), Kaji and Kawabata (1985) found that two superimposed RDKs moving in opposite directions evoked less activity in cat V1 neurons than did one RDK moving in the preferred direction even though the bidirectional stimulus contained twice the number of dots. A linear summation of the responses obtained with each direction alone was larger than the response elicited by the two RDKs superimposed. Presumably, the RDK moving in the nonpreferred direction inhibited the cells' responses to an RDK moving in the preferred direction. This inhibition could not be a center-surround receptive field effect since the RDKs were completely superimposed. Similar results were obtained with superimposed gratings and RDKs. Interestingly, nonpreferred directions do produce some excitation of the cells when presented alone but also inhibit the same cells when the preferred direction is present. Kaji and Kawabata (1985) suggest that inhibition may originate from cells excited by the inhibited cell's nonpreferred direction; this suggestion is entirely consistent with the cooperative-competitive model of motion integration.

The body of physiological data cited above supports the existence of excitatory interactions between similarly tuned visual neurons and inhibitory interactions between dissimilarly-tuned neurons.

### **Motion Adaptation and Cooperative-Competitive Integration**

Sensory adaptation is a state of reduced sensitivity to a specific stimulus induced by prolonged exposure to similar stimuli. It is a general phenomenon having been reported in many modalities including luminance, contrast, color, spatial frequency, color, pain, touch, olfaction and hearing. Direction-specific motion adaptation is induced by prolonged exposure to a uniformly moving stimulus.

The primary effects of motion adaptation are reduced directional sensitivity, perceived shifts of direction, and motion aftereffects. Reduced sensitivity is reflected in higher detection thresholds for motion in the adapted direction (Raymond, 1993). Observers also perceive motion to be shifted away from the adapted direction when the direction of motion is moderately different from the adapted direction (Levinson and Sekuler, 1976). Motion aftereffects are illusory percepts of motion opposite the adapted direction even though the test stimulus is stationary (Raymond, 1993). Interestingly, motion adaptation has been found to reduce perceived coherence as well (Movshon et al., 1985). Thus motion adaptation may prove to be a useful tool in studying cooperative-competitive integration.

Various hypotheses of how adaptation reduces sensitivity exist but the dominant themes are based upon theories of neural fatigue or upon evidence for elevation of detection thresholds. Theories of neural fatigue assume that prolonged activation fatigues neurons (Dealy and Tolhurst, 1974; Anstis and Duncan, 1983). Empirical data, however, indicate that neurons with high maximal firing rates often do not adapt while less active neurons do adapt (Sclar, Lennie and DePriest, 1989). Petersen et al. (1985) were able to show adaptation in MT cells, even though the cells had relatively low firing rates. In fact, neural firing rates after adaptation are not dramatically reduced relative to the unadapted state - often by just a few percent (Sclar et al., 1989; Hammond et al., 1986). Movshon et al. (1980, as reported in Petersen et al., 1985) demonstrated contrast adaptation in cortical cells but not in corresponding LGN cells; this suggests that not all classes of cell are prone to adaptation. When properly stimulated, cells in cortical layers 1 to 3 tend to habituate but cells in layers 4 to 6 generally do not (Hubel and Wiesel, 1968). Thus physiological support for the phenomenon of motion adaptation based on neural fatigue is, at best, inconclusive.

Threshold elevation models propose that an adapted channel's detection threshold is elevated relative to the unadapted state by some high order perceptual process (Ellis, 1972). That is, a channel's activity must reach a higher than normal level to evoked conscious awareness. However, this would not adequately explain motion aftereffects. In the typical motion aftereffect, observers perceive a stationary stimulus to be moving in the direction opposite the adapting direction. If the adapted direction's threshold is elevated, then the probability of perceiving the opposite direction should not be altered and should certainly not be enhanced.

It is possible that adaptation reduces sensitivity by suppressing the cooperative-competitive network so that dominant directions are not amplified. Adaptation may be a property of the cooperative-competitive network rather than individual neurons. In this scheme, the improvements in coherence attributed to cooperative-competitive integration would cease for the adapted direction and thus reduce its activity relative to the unadapted state. An efficient motion-detection system must be optimized to detect change and, as a result, should not indefinitely enhance the detectability of long-lived stimuli. This model parsimoniously explains both aftereffects and reduction in firing rates. After-effects may be due to a reduction of inhibition of the unadapted directional channels by the adapted channel; the illusory motion opposite the adapting direction may reflect postinhibitory rebound.

Prior to the development of channel-based theories of motion perception, motion-detecting neurons were believed to be organized into mutually opponent pairs (opponent-process theories; Mather, 1980). One member of the pair would detect one direction and the other member would detect the opposite direction but each would, when stimulated, inhibit the other's activity. The relative activity among the population of pairs would determine the perceived direction of motion. Channel theories, however, assumed that neurons responsible for opposite directions are independent. The cooperative-competitive model is, in essence, a modified channel theory. If it is correct, adaptation in one direction should alleviate inhibition on competing directions resulting in an enhancement of activity in unadapted neurons. Such results have been reported by Petersen, Baker and Allman (1985). As expected, they found that when MT neurons are adapted to motion in the preferred direction, responsiveness to the preferred direction is reduced. However, when adapted to the opposite direction, the neurons' responsiveness to the preferred direction is enhanced. Enhancement and suppression effects tended to be equally strong. Cells that were not directionally-selective did not adapt or exhibit either effect. Presumably, the adapting stimulus was adapting neurons tuned to its direction and thus reducing their ability to inhibit competing neurons. Although Petersen et al. (1985) did not interpret their results in the context of a cooperative-competitive model, they did suggest that enhancement could be due to habituation of an inhibitory input tuned to the adapting direction. Hammond et al. (1985) found that bidirectional cells, regardless of adapting direction, showed depressed activity for motion in the same direction but enhancement for motion in the opposite direction. Von der Heydt et al. (1978 as cited in Hammond et al., 1985) report preferred-direction depression and slight null-direction enhancement after motion adaptation.

### **Motion Visual Evoked Potentials**

Measuring visual function electrophysiologically in humans is limited to noninvasive measures such as the visual evoked potential (VEP). VEPs are electric potentials measured from the scalp and represent the combined synaptic activity of millions of cortical cells in response to a visual stimulus. As a result, VEPs are suitable for studying the global integration of localized visual events.

VEPs are recorded with electrodes applied to the scalp overlying visual cortex and referenced to an electrically indifferent site such as an earlobe. The microvolt-range signals must be amplified hundreds of thousands of times to produce appreciable recordings. The cortical response to a visual stimulus is small relative to the noisy background EEG activity. As a result, tens of VEP responses are summed to average out noise and extract an appreciable and reliable response.

In the time domain, VEPs are represented as voltage fluctuations as a function of time. Component peaks and troughs along the waveforms vary with stimulus properties such as spatial frequency or contrast. To quantify VEP waveforms, peak to peak voltage differences or peak latencies are determined. Figure 4 illustrates a typical VEP evoked by a moving stimulus.



Figure 4. Motion VEPs are recorded from the scalp overlying visual cortex. Recording of each VEP response is initiated by RDK displacement

and continues for 500 ms. 100 such responses are averaged to cancel out noise and extract a clean motion VEP. Motion VEPs typically have two prominent components: a negative peak at 150 ms post-stimulus and a positive peak 200 ms post-stimulus.

Stimuli typically used to evoke motion VEPs include drifting checkerboards, gratings or RDKs. One problem encountered with motion VEPs is the possible intrusion of luminance and pattern-processing components that are unrelated to the motion of the stimuli. These cannot be completely avoided since all visible stimuli must contain some contrast, but they can be minimized by careful stimulus design. It is thus necessary to distinguish genuine motion VEPs (mVEPs) from pattern VEPs. De Valois et al. (1982) reported that small moving spots were often very effective in driving cortical cells. Thus for the purposes of mVEP recording, RDKs may be ideal orientation-free motion stimuli.

Directionally-selective motion VEP have been recorded from human occipital lobes (eg. Clarke, 1973). Researchers have identified two different waveforms evoked by moving checkerboards and gratings: a motion-onset response and a motion-offset response. These two responses differ in waveform and scalp topology. Apparent motion stimuli produce mVEPs with characteristics of both responses. As illustrated in Figure 4, motion-sensitive mVEP components include a negative trough about 150 ms post stimulus onset (N150) and a positive peak about 200 ms post stimulus onset (P200). These latencies and amplitudes of these components vary with, among other variables, adaptation, stimulus size, eccentricity, displacement size and contrast (Clarke, 1973, Gopfer et al., 1990; Muller et al., 1990; Kuba and Kubova, 1992).

There are presently no reported mVEP studies in which statistical motion coherence was varied. Manning et al. (1991) did compare mVEPs recorded during periods of perceived coherence and periods of motion breakdown and found that periods of coherence result in mVEPs with negative components of smaller amplitude than in mVEPs recorded during periods of perceived breakdown. Unfortunately, this technique does not alter RDK coherence. Instead, the subject views a unidirectional (ie. 100% coherent) RDK and reports periods of perceived coherence and breakdown. Thus the independent variable relies on an alteration of perception rather than stimulation and could involve any stage along the motion-processing pathway. Furthermore, the time required for breakdown of coherence is sufficient to induce motion adaptation.

To determine if mVEPs are influenced by statistical RDK coherence, I conducted a pilot study in which mVEPs to RDKs of 0%, 50% and 100% coherence were recorded. The results revealed that the amplitude of a positive-going (P200) component, 150 to 180 ms post-displacement, varied with statistical RDK coherence. On the basis of that pilot study, formal experiments were conducted to characterize the relationship between the motion VEP and RDK coherence further. An additional study investigated motion adaptation. The methodology and results of these experiments follow.

### **General Methods**

### **Subjects**

Seven experimentally naive subjects and the author participated as observers in five experiments. The subjects (6 male, 2 female) ranged in age from 16 to 35 years. None had any known visual deficits other than corrected myopia. Three observers (AA, MA and TL) were well experienced in psychophysical motion tasks.

All subjects participated as unpaid volunteers and were given the option to withdraw at any time. Informed consent was obtained from each observer prior to participation in accordance with the University of Calgary's Conjoint Medical Bioethics Committee standards.

### Stimuli and Apparatus

The stimuli were RDKs produced by an IBM PC/AT compatible computer equipped with a 512 kilobyte Trident 9000 video adapter (Trident Systems, Mountainview, California) driving a 14 inch Primax Spectrum II (Primax Computer Systems, Toronto) color VGA monitor. The screen resolution was 640 horizontal pixels (picture elements) by 480 vertical pixels. When viewed from a distance of 100 cm, the diameter of individual dots was approximately 1.25 min arc. Dot luminance was set to 10 cd/m<sup>2</sup> white as measured by a Hagen Universal Photometer Model S2 (Optikon, Waterloo, Ontario); background luminance was less than 0.1 cd/m<sup>2</sup>. The vertical refresh rate of the video system was 72 Hz or 13.9 ms per frame.

The computer equipment was placed on a desk and adjusted so that the center of the screen would be at eye-level for a seated observer. A computer-generated red fixation point was centered within the RDK stimuli to facilitate steady and prolonged fixation. A chinrest was provided to minimize head movements.

Each RDK stimulus consisted of 4000 single-pixel dots randomly positioned within a 480 by 480 pixel square region centered on the computer screen (10 deg by 10 deg at 100 cm viewing distance). All RDK dots were simultaneously displaced 10 min arc (8 pixels) from frame to frame. The dots could move in any of the four primary directions (up, down, left or right). Each RDK series consisted of 105 displacements (106 frames) of which the last 100 triggered recording of a mVEP response. The dots designated as signal moved along the same trajectory for all 105 displacements. Noise dots were randomly assigned a new direction (up, down, left or right) on each displacement. Dots that passed an RDK boundary were wrapped around to the opposite side of the stimulus.

Since each display frame required a 256 KB memory buffer, two frames could be simultaneously held by the 512 KB video adapter. As one frame was

displayed, the next frame was updated. Every 1100 ms during the display's vertical retrace interval, the two frames were switched to produce a discrete displacement. Switching during the retrace interval ensured near-instantaneous and smooth frame transitions.

Motion VEP responses were recorded by a Cadwell Excel evoked potential recorder (Cadwell Laboratories, Kennewick, Washington). Two replications of one hundred 500 ms-long mVEP responses were recorded and averaged for each stimulus condition. Amplifier gain was 100 000x and frequency bandpass was 1.0 Hz to 100 Hz. In order to discard responses contaminated by muscle artifacts or eye-movements, automatic artifact rejection was enabled for voltage fluctuations greater than 50mV. Motion VEP recording was initiated upon RDK displacement onset (ie. during frame switching). The trigger signal was sent through the computer's parallel printer port to the Excel's trigger-in port.

Gold-cup surface electrodes were placed at Oz, O1, and O2 to record electrical activity from midline, left and right primary visual cortex. All three electrodes were referenced to linked ears which have been shown inert to visual motion stimuli (Manning and Mazzucchelli, 1992). The ground electrode was placed on the upper-right forehead. To monitor eye-movements, a pair of electrooculogram electrodes were occasionally applied to the right nasal and temporal canthi of four subjects.
#### Procedure

All recordings were conducted in a dark room. Observers were seated so that the distance from their zygomatic arch (temple) to the computer screen was 100 cm. They were dark adapted for five minutes prior to each recording session. The observers were made as comfortable as possible by adjusting the chinrest and chair. They were instructed to relax and concentrate on the fixation point. They were also encouraged to resist eye-movements and eye-blinks. If needed, subjects could pause the session and were allowed to terminate participation at any time; no subject withdrew prematurely.

Two replicable averages consisting of 100 mVEPs responses were obtained for each condition in the five experiments presented below. Motion VEP recording commenced after the fifth RDK displacement (sixth frame) of each condition. This was done to avoid unstable initial VEP responses. Each VEP response was evoked by one RDK displacement starting at displacement onset. Excessive eye-movements or blinks during a displacement caused the Excel to reject that VEP response.

The observers' task was to view the stimuli - no behavioural response was required. Each 100-response mVEP average required approximately two minutes to obtain. Total participation time per subject was 2.5 to 3.0 hours. All subjects were tested between 9:00 am and 2:00 pm. The subjects were allowed a minimum two minute break between stimulus conditions to keep

١

them alert and to avoid motion adaptation. A five minute break between experiments was also provided. An mVEP was obtained for each condition in all experiments before a second replication was attempted. Otherwise, the conditions were presented in random order regardless of experiment.

# **General Results**

Five related experiments were conducted in order to test hypotheses of the cooperative-competitive model of motion integration and to rule out artifacts and misinterpretations. Some general observations are presented first.

#### **General Observations**

Although VEP amplitudes and latencies varied considerably across subjects, the waveforms tended to have similar component morphologies. As demonstrated in Figure 5, a 150 ms negative component (N150) and a 200 ms positive component (P200) were especially obvious. A prominent 100 ms positivity (P100) is typically associated with pattern processing but was not

5 uV 100% Right 100% Up 100% Left P200 ~<u>~</u> 100% Down жų N150 P100 Checkerboard Pattern VEP 500 100 300 400 Ô 200

always observed in the present data (Regan, 1989).

Time (ms) following RDK displacement Figure 5. Sample motion VEPs from subject AA evoked in response to

unidirectional RDKs moving right, up, left and down (top four traces). Three channels of activity are shown superimposed for each direction: Oz (midline occipital cortex), O1 (left occipital) and O2 (right occipital). The three channels had very similar mVEPs. As expected, these mVEPs had a prominent positive peak at 200 ms post stimulus (P200) and the negative peak at 150 ms post stimulus (N150). The bottom trace is a pattern VEP evoked by an alternating checkerboard pattern. It has a prominent positivity at 100 ms post stimulus (P100). Horizontal scale is 50 ms/division and vertical scale is 5 uV/division.

Due to the small variability between the Oz, O1 and O2 (see Figure 5), only the Oz waveforms were analyzed. The N150-P200 differential amplitude and P200 latency measures were obtained from each waveform after three-point smoothing. N150-P200 differential amplitude was taken by subtracting the amplitude of the most negative peak in the 100 to 200 ms time interval from the most positive peak in the 150 to 300 ms time interval past RDK displacement. No other characteristics of the waveforms appeared to vary systematically with stimulus type. The amplitude and latency measures obtained from each two replications per stimulus condition per subject were averaged for statistical analysis. Approximately 3% of all mVEP responses were rejected by the VEP recorder due to excessive eye-movement or muscle artifact in those responses.

#### Exp. 1: How does RDK Coherence Affect mVEP Amplitude?

#### Rationale

The fundamental premise of the cooperative-competitive model is that motion-detecting neurons sensitive to the same direction of motion facilitate each other's activity but inhibit the activity of neurons tuned to competing directions. Assuming that facilitation and inhibition are directly mediated by excitatory and inhibitory post-synaptic potentials, then the amplitudes of mVEPs recorded in response to RDKs of varying levels of coherence should provide a gross measure of these synaptic interactions. As RDK coherence increases, facilitatory interactions and hence EPSP magnitude should increase. In contrast, as RDK coherence decreases, inhibition and hence IPSP magnitude should increase. In this experiment, mVEPs were recorded in response to RDKs of varying levels of coherence.

### **Methods**

Eight subjects varying in age from 16 to 35 years participated in this experiment. The stimuli were 10 deg by 10 deg rightward RDKs of 0, 25, 50, 75 and 100% coherence. Percent coherence represents the proportion of signal dots moving rightwards. The remaining dots moved in random directions. Percent coherence was corrected for the proportion of noise dots that move in the signal direction. All other stimulus parameters were the same as described in the general methods.

# **Results**

The N150-P200 amplitude of the obtained mVEPs was found to increase with RDK coherence. The results for a typical subject, AA, are presented in Figure 6. As RDK coherence increased from top to bottom, the mVEP morphology became more definitive especially for the 75% and 100% conditions. The 0% mVEP is barely recognizable but replicates well nonetheless.





Pooled mVEP data for eight subjects is presented in Figure 7. The plots reveal a direct relationship between mVEP amplitude and RDK coherence. Mean amplitude was 3.1 uV for 0% coherent rightward motion, 4.2 uV for 50% rightward motion, and 7.6 uV for 100% rightward motion. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed significant differences in VEP amplitude, F(4,28)=16.115, p< .0001. From Figure 7, it appears that the amplitudes obtained in the 0% and 25% coherence conditions differed significantly from the amplitudes obtained in the 75% and 100% coherence conditions.



Figure 7. Pooling the data for eight subjects, it becomes clear that mVEP N150-P200 amplitude grows nonlinearly with RDK coherence. The P200 latency is independent of RDK coherence.

Prior VEP studies typically report that VEP peak latency decreases as VEP amplitude increases. However, a one-way ANOVA of the P200 latencies obtained in the current experiment revealed no significant differences in P200 latency regardless of VEP amplitude and, by extension, RDK coherence, F(4, 28) = .585, p=.6763. The range of latencies extended from 202 ms to 218 ms but no definite trend was obvious as illustrated in Figure 7.

#### Discussion

Motion VEP N150-P200 differential amplitude increases nonlinearly with RDK coherence. This finding implies differences in how RDKs of varying coherence are processed in primary visual cortex. If motion-integration were linear, then the mVEP amplitude would depend only on the number of dots in the RDK. Motion VEP amplitude does clearly vary with RDK coherence even when the total number of dots remains constant, however. This finding can be explained by the cooperative-competitive model of motion integration if two alternative explanations are ruled out: different directions producing morphologically dissimilar mVEPs and motion parallel or perpendicular to RDK edges. These two alternatives are explained in the rationales of the next two experiments.

# **Exp. 2: Do Different Directions of Motion Produce Equivalent mVEPs?** Rationale

If each direction of motion produced a unique mVEP morphology, then the observed effect of RDK coherence on mVEP amplitude could be due to linear summation of morphologically dissimilar mVEP waveforms rather than a cooperative-competitive interaction between motion detectors. When a multidirectional stimulus such as a 0% coherent RDK is used to evoke an mVEP, that resulting mVEP would be expected to have a small amplitude since the component mVEPs could cancel out. It is necessary to compare mVEPs evoked by unidirectional RDKs moving in each direction and ensure they produce mVEPs of similar morphology, amplitude and latency.



Figure 8. If each direction of motion evoked a morphologically unique mVEP, then an RDK containing multiple directions of motion will evoke an mVEP of relatively small amplitude compared to mVEPs evoked by unidirectional RDKs. This is because components of different latencies,

amplitudes and polarities will attenuate each other during neural integration and produce results similar to those expected from cooperative-competitive integration.

If different directions of motion (stimulus) produce morphologically different mVEP responses, combining directions into a multidirectional stimulus (such as the low coherence RDKs of experiment 1) may produce small amplitude mVEPs regardless of cooperative-competitive integration as illustrated in Figure 8.

# **Methods**

The same eight subjects that participated in experiment 1 served in this experiment. The stimuli consisted of unidirectional - i.e. 100% coherent - 10 deg by 10 deg RDKs moving in each of the four primary directions. The remaining stimulus parameters were unchanged from the general methods. <u>Results</u>

Motion VEPs evoked by RDKs moving in different directions for a typical subject are presented in Figure 9. For all directions, mVEP did not appear to differ in morphology, latency or polarity.



Figure 9. Motion VEPs evoked by unidirectional motion for a typical subject, AA. All four directions of motion produce mVEPs that are similar in morphology, amplitude and latency.

A one-way repeated measures ANOVA conducted on the data of eight subjects revealed no differences in N150-P200 amplitudes with RDK direction, F(3,21) = .098, p=.9604. These amplitudes for 100% upward, leftward, rightward and downward motion ranged from 7.58 uV to 7.94 uV as shown in Figure 10. In addition, P200 latencies ranged from 207 to 210 ms but were not significantly different for the four directions either, F(3,21) = .314, p=.8150.



Figure 10. Mean mVEP amplitude and latency as a function of

displacement direction. Both mVEP characteristics were similar for all four directions of unidirectional motion.

# **Discussion**

In light of the amplitude, latency and morphological similarity of mVEPs recorded in response to different directions, the varying amplitudes obtained in the coherence study could not be caused by combining different directions that produce morphologically different mVEPs.

# Exp. 3: Does Motion Along or Against an Edge Affect the mVEP?

# **Rationale**

Psychophysical studies reveal that observers are especially sensitive to motion parallel (shear) or perpendicular (compression) to an edge (van Doorn and Koenderink, 1984). Regan (1986) proposed on the basis of adaptation studies that motion parallel and perpendicular to stimulus edges are processed differently. Neurons that are especially sensitive to motion contrast or motion edges have been identified in V1 and MT (Newsome and Pare, 1988).

The relative amount of shear or compression in an RDK can be varied by elongating the RDK. Elongation parallel to the direction of motion amplifies shear while elongation perpendicular to the direction of motion amplifies compression. Even when total stimulus area is held constant, observers are more sensitive to elongated RDKs than to square RDKs (van Door and Koenderink, 1984). Since shearing and compression motion along an RDK edge increase with RDK coherence, neurons sensitive to this type of motion rather than cooperative-competitive integration could account for the direct relationship between RDK coherence and VEP amplitude. To test this hypothesis, an experiment was conducted using RDKs elongated vertically or horizontally. The resultant mVEPs were compared to mVEPs evoked by square RDKs of equal area.

#### <u>Methods</u>

Six subjects aged 16 to 35 years took part in this experiment. The stimuli were unidirectional (i.e. 100% coherent) rightward RDKs. The RDKs were of three configurations: 7.0 by 7.0 deg square RDKs, 10.0 by 5.0 deg horizontally elongated RDKs to increase shearing motion, and 5.0 by 10.0 deg vertically elongated RDKs to increase compression motion.

These RDKs were half as large as the 10.0 by 10.0 deg RDKs of the previous experiments but dot density was kept constant by halving the number of dots to 2000. The remaining stimulus parameters were unchanged from the general methods.

#### <u>Results</u>

As demonstrated in Figure 11 for a typical subject, mVEPs recorded in response to horizontally or vertically elongated RDKs are similar to mVEPs evoked by square RDKs.



Figure 11. As evident from this data for a typical subject, AA, mVEPs evoked by unidirectional rightward RDKs are similar in waveform regardless of whether or not the RDK are elongated.

After averaging over six subjects, it was found that both types of elongated RDKs evoked slightly larger VEPs than the square RDK (see Figure 12). However, a one-way repeated measures ANOVA failed to reveal any significant differences between the three stimulus types in terms of N150-P200 amplitude, F(2,10)=1.072, p=.3785. No significant differences in P200 latency were found either, F(2,10)=.496, p=.6233.

ſ,



Figure 12. Pooling of the data for six subject revealed no statistically significant difference between elongated or square RDKs in terms of N150-P200 amplitude or P200 latency.

# Discussion

1

These findings suggest that differences in the processing of shearing or compression motion are not manifested in the mVEP as amplitude or latency changes. Based on the psychophysical findings of van Doorn and Koenderink (1984), elongated RDKs would be expected to produce larger mVEPs than square RDKs of the same area. Thus even though the extent of shear and compression grows with RDK coherence, shear and compression cannot account for the direct relationship between mVEP amplitude and RDK coherence observed in Experiment 1.

# Exp. 4: Are Orthogonal Directions of Motion Mutually Inhibitory? Rationale

The square condition RDKs in experiment 3 contained 2000 rightward-moving dots; whereas, the 50% coherent RDKs in experiment 1 contained 2000 rightward-moving dots and 2000 randomly-moving dots but evoked mVEPs of smaller amplitude than the square condition of experiment 3 (4.2 uV vs 5.4 uV; t(6)=2.57, p<.05). The addition of noise dots attenuates mVEP amplitude - presumably by mutual inhibition among motion detectors tuned to competing directions.

Opponent-motion models of motion perception typically assume that motion-detectors tuned to opposite directions of motion are mutually inhibitory. However, the cooperative-competitive network model assumes that competition between motion-detectors encompasses not only detectors tuned to opposite directions, but detectors tuned to orthogonal directions as well. This assumption has received support in the work of Snowden (1989). To investigate the competitiveness of orthogonal directions relative to opposite directions using an mVEP methodology, it was necessary to implement RDKs in which the noise dots were restricted to moving opposite or orthogonal to the signal direction.

# Methods:

Six subjects aged 16 to 32 participated in this experiment. The stimuli consisted of 10 by 10 deg RDKs of 50% rightward coherence. In the "opposite" condition, the noise dots moved left; in the "orthogonal" condition, the noise dots moved either up or down; and in the "all" condition, the noise dots moved up, down and left. This last condition was the same as the 50% condition in experiment 1. The RDKs contained 4000 dots as in the general methods.

# Results:

For subject AA, RDKs involving noise dots that moved orthogonal to the signal direction produced mVEPs similar to the mVEPs produced by RDKs in which noise dots moved opposite the signal direction (see Figure 13). This consistency was maintained after averaging the data for six subjects (see Figure 14). The opposite, orthogonal and all conditions produced equivalent mVEPs. One-way repeated measures ANOVAs revealed no significant differences among the conditions in terms of N150-P200 amplitude, F(2,12) = .702, p=.5148, or P200 latency, F(2,12) = 2.158, p=.1583.



Figure 13. As evident for this typical subject, AA, mVEPs were similar regardless of whether the noise in a 50% coherent RDK was moving opposite or orthogonal to the signal direction.



Figure 14. Rightward RDKs of 50% coherence in which noise was opposite the signal direction, orthogonal to it or both were used to evoked motion VEPs. After pooling the data of six subjects, the resultant VEPs did not differ significantly in amplitude or latency suggesting that orthogonal directions are just as mutually inhibitory as opposite directions.

# **Discussion**

Orthogonal directions appear to be as mutually competitive as opposite directions as is assumed in the cooperative-competitive model of motion integration and demonstrated in the work of Snowden (1989). These data do not support traditional opponent-process models of motion-perception because such models limit mutual inhibition to motion-detectors tuned to opposite directions. Opponent-process models would predict mutual inhibition between opposite directions of motion (eg. left and right) but not orthogonal directions of motion (eg. up and right).

# Exp. 5: Does Motion Adaptation Produce Disinhibition of Competing Directions? Rationale:

Motion adaptation is assumed to reduce an observer's sensitivity to the adapted direction by reducing the responsiveness of neurons tuned to that direction. Furthermore, motion adaptation often enhances sensitivity to the unadapted directions (Petersen et. al., 1985). In light of the cooperative-competitive model of motion integration, enhancement effects may reflect disinhibition from the adapted directions. To test this hypothesis physiologically, mVEPs to RDKs of different directions were recorded prior to and after adaptation to one direction.

# Methods:

Four subjects aged 16 to 26 participated in this experiment. Prior to mVEP recording, the subjects were preadapted for 90 seconds to either a unidirectional rightward RDK or a stationary "RDK". The adapting stimulus was a unidirectional 10 by 10 deg RDKs moving 10 min arc to the right every 114 ms. This short time interval between displacements was necessary to quickly induce strong adaptation. Motion VEPs to similar unidirectional RDKs moving up, left or right were recorded immediately after the adaptation period. Otherwise, the RDK parameters described in the general methods were implemented. The unadapted mVEPs were actually the same subjects' data from experiment 2.

# Results:

As demonstrated for a typical subject in Figure 15, 90 seconds of motion adaptation to a rightward RDK significantly reduces N150-P200 amplitude relative to adaptation to a stationary RDK. The same amplitudes to leftward and upward stimuli appears little affected.



Figure 15. For subject AA, 90 seconds of adaptation to unidirectional rightward motion reduces VEP amplitude dramatically for subsequent rightward motion but leaves upward and leftward mVEPs little changed. These postadaptation mVEPs should be compared to those given in Figure 9 which were recorded without previous motion adaptation.

For all four subjects, the mean reduction of postadaptation rightward-moving RDK N150-P200 amplitude by 4.88 uV is readily appreciated from Figure 16 and is statistically significant t(3) = 5.925, p=.0096.



Figure 16. For four subjects, 90 seconds of adaptation to unidirectional rightward motion significantly reduced mVEP amplitude for subsequent

rightward motion but had no significant effect on leftward and upward motion. Adaptation consistently reduces P200 latency.

However prior adaptation to rightward motion does not significantly alter N150-P200 amplitudes in mVEPs evoked by leftward (mean elevation 1.03 uV, t(3) = -.941, p=.4161) or upward motion (mean elevation 0.21 uV, t(3)=.446, p=.6861; see Figure 16). A two-way ANOVA revealed that adaptation does significantly reduce P200 latency for all directions, F(1, 9) =12.52, p < .01;

#### Discussion

The findings of this experiment suggest that reduction of inhibition from rightward motion-detectors does not produce an appreciable disinhibition effect in detectors tuned to directions opposite to and orthogonal to the adapted direction. Adaptation does, however, reduce the amplitude of mVEPs evoked by the adapted direction. The latencies of VEP peaks typically increase as amplitude decreases. The opposite effect was observed in this experiment for motion in the adapted direction: P200 latency decreased as N150-P200 amplitude decreased. This finding is unusual and inexplicable.

#### Discussion

#### **Motion VEP Validity**

An important issue in motion VEP experiments concerns the validity of the measured mVEPs as true motion responses. For a moving stimulus to be visible, it must possess some threshold contrast and hence some texture. As a result, all or part of the measured mVEPs may be caused by pattern rather than motion processing. For example, events that are time-locked to stimulus displacement such as local luminance changes, flicker, blurring and pursuit eye-movements could cause variations in scalp potential that are not attenuated during mVEP response averaging (Regan, 1989). These sources of error must be eliminated in the current experiments in order for the measured VEPs to be considered valid indicators of motion processing.

Smooth unidirectional motion readily elicits involuntary smooth-pursuit eye-movements (eg. Murphy, 1978). Clarke (1972) demonstrated that pursuit eye-movement latencies were uncorrelated with motion VEP component latencies and thus could not be responsible for VEP generation. Nonetheless, two precautions were adopted in the current experiments to minimize the influence of eye-movements. Firstly, a central fixation point - long known to facilitate steady fixation - was provided. Secondly, eye-movements were monitored in four subjects to confirm that eye-movements were not significantly contributing to the resulting VEP. The signal averager's automatic artifact rejection feature was enabled so that EOG responses containing large voltage variations would be discarded. EOG recordings obtained from four subjects revealed that eye-movements occurred in only 3% of all trials regardless of RDK coherence. Moreover, completely random motion cannot consistently elicit pursuit eye-movements, yet, the VEPs

48

obtained in response to unidirectional RDKs contained the same components as the noise-evoked VEPs. The highly coherent RDKs produced mVEPs that were much larger in amplitude than the low coherence RDKs. This implies that motion VEPs, regardless of stimulus coherence, are generated by a single process not involving eye-movements.

Local luminance changes and blurring during pattern displacement, neither of which are influenced by dot displacement direction, can produce pattern-onset and pattern-offset VEP responses (Regan, 1989). If either were a significant contributor to the motion VEPs, then VEP amplitude should not vary with RDK coherence because the number of dots in the stimulus and hence the extent of blurring and luminance changes remains constant. However, this was not the case since VEP amplitude varied significantly with RDK coherence. Furthermore pattern-related P100 components were rarely observed in the obtained VEPs suggesting that pattern processing was minimal (Regan, 1989). This is not unexpected since RDKs are designed to be as pattern-free as possible.

Screen flicker during frame switching is nondirectional and, as a result, unrelated to RDK coherence. Again, this feature of the stimulus cannot underlie the motion VEPs since VEP amplitudes varied with RDK coherence. Furthermore, frame switching occurred during the screen's vertical retrace interval which is too short to be perceptible (1.2 ms) and hence can be considered instantaneous. Screen refresh - and hence screen flicker - was time-locked to stimulus displacement; the screen refresh rate was 72 Hz but no 72 Hz frequency component was apparent in the mVEPs.

It is thus reasonable to conclude that the mVEPs obtained by stimulation with RDKs of varying coherence were not caused by eye-movements, local luminance changes or screen flicker and are true motion responses.

The majority of mVEP studies utilize drifting bar gratings, checkerboards or RDKs that reverse direction upon reaching the screen edge (eg. Spekreijse et. al., 1985, Kuba and Kubova, 1992, Manning and Mazzucchelli, 1992). The resulting mVEPs appear time-locked to the motion reversal and often resemble pattern-appearance or pattern-disappearance VEPs. Few studies actually establish the necessary directional selectivity of their mVEPs. The mVEPs presented in experiment 1 can be due only to RDK motion because RDK coherence depends solely on dot direction.

#### **Motion VEPs and Cooperative-Competitive Integration**

Motion VEP amplitude was found to increase with RDK coherence. This trend could be due to concomitant factors unrelated to the RDK coherence such as the combination of morphologically dissimilar unidirectional VEPs or activation of neurons specially sensitive to motion along stimulus edges.

Although individual observers often demonstrate some directional bias in overt judgements of RDK direction, psychophysically-measured motion detection thresholds tend to be similar for all four primary directions (Raymond, 1993). The observation that different directions of motion produce indistinguishable VEPs supports the psychophysical findings. There is no physiological evidence to suggest that direction detectors are disparately distributed in terms of numbers or response direction. Assuming that motion integration is linear and given that different directions of motion produce similar VEP responses in striate cortex, a multidirectional stimulus should produce a VEP similar to a unidirectional stimulus as shown in Figure 17. This stems from the superposition principle of systems analysis: the overall response of a linear system is equal to the sum of the individual responses to the individual components of the stimulus. However, the coherence study demonstrated that as RDK coherence decreases, so does the amplitude of the mVEP. Thus the responses to the different directions cannot be linearly summed and must somehow interact during integration. Snowden and Braddick's (1989a,b) cooperative-competitive model in which motion-detectors tuned to dissimilar directions inhibit one another

parsimoniously accounts for these findings.



Figure 17. All four directions of motion tested were found to evoke equivalent VEPs (A to D). Combining the four directions into one stimulus should produce a similar response (E) if motion integration is linear since the output of a linear system is equal to the sum of the individual responses. However, the obtained VEP was clearly different (F) suggesting that motion integration is cooperative-competitive.

The direct relationship between RDK coherence and mVEP amplitude could be explained by motion parallel (shear) or perpendicular (compression) to the RDK edges. As RDK coherence increases, shearing and compressing increase as well. Heightened sensitivity to shearing and compression was psychophysically demonstrated by, among others, Van Door and Koenderink's (1984) use of elongated RDKs. Experiment 3 revealed no significant differences between a square RDK, a horizontally elongated RDK, and a vertically elongated RDK of the same area even though the shearing and compression were 50% greater in the elongated RDKs than in the square RDK. Mikami et al. (1986) found that motion-contrast sensitive neurons are predominantly found in area MT. Since the current study did not consider MT, it is plausible that the heightened sensitivity develops beyond striate cortex and thus could not be detected by occipital mVEPs.

Other possible explanations notwithstanding, direct relationships between motion VEP amplitude and RDK coherence can only be explained by a dependence on RDK coherence. Psychophysicists have long assumed RDK coherence to be related to motion "intensity" and this series of experiments supports that assumption. As discussed above, a linear system of motion integration would produce VEPs with amplitude independent of RDK coherence. This is because all cells would be expected to respond similarly and their outputs linearly summated.

The observed results can be explained only by a cooperative-competitive integrative process involving preferential amplification of activity within directionally-selective channels and/or by mutual inhibition among channels. Snowden and Braddick's (1989a,b) model elegantly meets either or both criteria by positing a neural network in which motion detectors tuned to the same direction of motion mutually enhance each other's activity and inhibit the activity of detectors tuned to competing directions. Alternative models of recurrent enhancement could include Zeki and Shipp's (1988) which involves a series of feedback loops among cortical centres in which higher-levels feedback and amplify lower-levels that are driving them. For example, area MT may assess the dominant direction evident from the V1 input and feedback onto V1 to amplify the activity of V1 cells responsive to that direction of motion and suppress the activity of detectors tuned to other directions. Zeki and Shipp propose that this mechanism enhances perceptual coherence - much as the cooperative-competitive network does. Such a feedback model could also explain motion-capture or hysteresis and other "cooperative" phenomena in motion perception if the feedback were to persist in time.

It is difficult to assess whether both cooperativity and competition are indeed involved in motion integration. Either mechanism in isolation could produce a direct relationship between RDK coherence and mVEP amplitude. If motion-detecting neurons did not interact, mVEP amplitude would depend only on the number of dots in the RDK and not its coherence. Experiment 4 revealed that both opposite and orthogonal directions are mutually inhibitory. This finding strongly supports the existence of competition between motion detectors. One could argue that the reduced mVEPs in both conditions were due to less cooperativity in the signal direction because of the reduction in signal dots by one-half. However in the absence of competition, cooperativity between noise dots moving in the same direction would be expected to compensate for the reduction in signal-dot cooperativity and hence produce mVEPs comparable to a 100% rightward RDK. The slightly smaller mVEP in the orthogonal condition may be due to the additional competition between up and down not found in leftward noise.

Disregarding neural fatigue, support for cooperativity may be found in the adaptation study. It would be difficult to explain the reduction of rightward mVEP amplitudes after adaptation to rightward motion solely by competition since the unidirectional test stimulus did not contain any competing directions. According to the model, reduction of the competitive efficacy of one direction by adaptation should be reflected in enhanced sensitivity of unadapted directions due to reduced inhibition. Previous psychophysical and physiological studies have consistently reported same-direction suppression but the occurrence of different-direction enhancement effects is not always observed (eg. Hammond 1982; Raymond, 1993). This may be due to use of stimuli not suited to studying enhancement. For example, exposing a neuron to a 100% coherent test stimulus opposite in direction to the adapting stimulus leaves little, if any, room for enhancement. The adaptation study revealed no disinhibition of nonadapted directions. Conceivably, this could be due to lack of stimulated competing directions: a ceiling effect obtained by using unidirectional test RDKs. Thus there is simply no room for the VEPs to increase in amplitude and any inhibition that might have been induced by stimulation in the adapted direction would be minimal since the test RDKs did not contain any motion in the adapted direction. In

retrospect, 50% coherent test stimuli containing motion in the adapted direction might have proved more powerful sources of disinhibition.

In conclusion, both cooperativity and competition were implicated in the results of Experiment 4. Some researchers have suggested that the input to striate cortex is primarily excitatory but stimulus-tuning is sharpened by intracortical inhibition (eg. De Valois et al., 1982). The present results suggest that intracortical excitation may be involved as well.

#### **Anatomy and Cooperative-Competitive Integration**

Since the VEP is largely a measure of synaptic activity, this research suggests that the cooperation is mediated by synaptic excitation and competition by synaptic inhibition. This agrees well with the findings of Blakemore and Tobin (1978).

Snowden and Braddick (1989a), citing the work of Mikami et al. (1986), suggested that this type of integration occurs in area MT. However, the current study, in which VEPs were recorded from occipital cortex, indicates that cooperative-competitive integration occurs as early as primary visual cortex. This is consistent with the greater physiological and anatomical support for cooperative and competitive interactions in V1 as presented in the introduction.

# **Integration of Non-translational Motion**

Translational motion is not the only type of motion to which humans demonstrate acute sensitivity. In fact expanding motion, motion in depth and rotary motion often produces many effects similar to linear motion - such as adaptation and priming - and is assumed to have physiological detectors (Regan, 1986; Longuet-Higgins and Prazdy, 1980). Linear trajectories can be combined to produce, for example, rotational motion (Regan, 1986). The cooperative-competitive model precludes such integrations, however, since a stimulus containing all directions will produce mainly inhibitory interactions and not a percept of rigid rotation. Regan and Beverley (1985 as cited in Regan, 1986), using an adaptation paradigm, found that discrete linear and rotary motion mechanisms can be distinguished based on selective adaptation. This suggests that the perception of rotary motion may be mediated by different channels than translational motion. It would be interesting to conduct an experiment to determine if clockwise and counter-clockwise motion are mutually competitive with each other and with linear motion. Such a study could be extended to the other types of motion cited above.

#### **Figure-Ground Segregation and Cooperative-Competitive Integration**

Objects moving against a background are particularly obvious. Wellcamouflaged animals are often undetectable until they move. In the laboratory, RDKs can contain subregions in which a shape is defined exclusively by its relative motion - not luminance, color or texture. When the RDK is stationary, the shape is invisible (Regan, 1986). The objects' boundaries are defined by relative motion: shearing or compression. Noise in the visual system is shown to reduce the coherence of moving objects. The cooperative-competitive network can enhance such boundaries however by amplifying signal (dominant directions) and suppressing noise resulting in better Figure-ground segregation. Regan (1986) suggests that spatial opponency between motion detectors may underlie the crispness associated with motion-defined boundaries. The observed improvement in stimulus contours with motion is not novel; it has been proposed to function in the detection of suprathreshold spatial frequency gratings and random dot stereograms (Levinson and Sekuler, 1976; Poggio, 1982).

# Epistemology

The finding that local motion signals are nonlinearly integrated to produce a global percept of motion possibly has implications for sensory research in general. Much as lateral inhibition and center-surround opponency have redefined how the visual system codes contrast, motion cooperativity and opponency reveals that neural systems can take advantage of physical and logical consistencies in the real world to enhance otherwise noisy motion signals. Thus our percepts become faithful representations of the physical world's unitary and persistent objects. Without such active enhancement, limitations of sensory transduction, transmission and integration might leave us with an incomplete picture.

#### **Literature Cited**

- Adelson, E. H. and Movshon, J. A. (1982). Phenomenal coherence of moving visual patterns. <u>Nature</u>, <u>300</u>, 523-525.
- Anstis, S. M. (1980). The perception of apparent movement. <u>Philosophical</u> <u>transactions of the Royal Society, London, B290</u>, 153-168.
- Anstis, S. and Duncan, K. (1983). Separate motion aftereffects from each eye and from both eyes. <u>Vision Research</u>, 23, 161-169.
- Anstis, S., Giaschi, D. and Cogan, A. I. (1985). Adaptation to apparent motion. <u>Vision Research</u>, 25, 1051-1062.
- Anstis, S. and Ramachandran, V. S. (1983). Visual inertia in apparent motion. <u>Vision Research</u>, 27, 755-764.
- Baker, C. L. and Cynader, M. S. (1986). Spatial receptive-field properties of direction-selective neurons in cat striate cortex. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Neurophysiology</u>, <u>55</u>, 1136-1152.
- Barbur, J. (1981). Subthreshold addition of real and apparent motion. <u>Vision</u> <u>Research, 21, 314-327</u>.
- Barlow, H. B. and Levick, W. R. (1965). The mechanism of directionally selective units in rabbit's retina. Journal of Physiology, London, 178, 477-504.
- Berkeley, M. A. and Bush, R. (1983). Experimental Brain Research, 50, 397-407.

- Blakemore, C., Carpenter, H. S. and Georgeson, M. A. (1970). Lateral inhibition between orientation detectors in the human visual system. <u>Nature, 228, 37-39.</u>
- Blakemore, C. and Tobin, E. A. (1972). Lateral inhibition between orientation detectors in the cat's visual cortex. <u>Experimental Brain Research</u>, <u>15</u>, 439-440.
- Braddick, O. J. (1974). Low-level and high-level processes in apparent motion. <u>Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London</u>, <u>B290</u>, 137-151.
- Chang, J. J., and Julesz, B. (1984). Cooperative phenomena in apparent movement perception of random-dot cinematograms. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>24</u>, 1781-1788.
- Clarke, P. G. H. (1972). Visual evoked potentials to sudden reversal of the motion of a pattern. <u>Brain Research</u>, <u>36</u>, 453-458.
- Clarke, P. G. H. (1973). Are visual evoked potentials o motion-reversal produced by direction-sensitive brain mechanisms? <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>14</u>, 1281-1284.
- De Valois, R. L., Yund, E. W., and Hepler, N. (1982). The orientation and direction selectivity of cells in macaque visual cortex. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>22</u>, 531-544.

- Dealy, R. S. and Tolhurst, D. J. (1974). Is spatial adaptation an aftereffect of prolonged inhibition? Journal of Physiology, London, 241, 261-270.
- Ellis, H. D. (1972). Adaptation-level theory and context effects on sensory judgements. <u>Perception</u>, <u>1</u>, 101-109.
- Gilbert, C. D. (1985). Horizontal integration in the neocortex. <u>Trends in</u> <u>Neuroscience</u>, 8, 160-165.
- Gopfert, E., Muller, R., and Simon, E. M. (1990). The human motion onset
  VEP as a function of stimulation area for foveal and peripheral vision.
  <u>Documenta Ophthalmologica</u>, 75, 165-173.
- Gray, C. M., Konig, P., Engel, A. K., and Singer, W. (1989). Oscillatory responses in cat visual cortex exhibit inter-columnar synchronization which reflects global stimulus properties. <u>Nature</u>, <u>338</u>, 334-337.
- Hammond, P., Mouat, G. S. V., and Smith, A. T. (1985). Motion after-effects in cat striate cortex elicited by moving gratings. <u>Experimental Brain</u> <u>Research, 60</u>, 411-416.
- Hammond, P., Mouat, G. S. V., and Smith, A. T. (1986). Motion after-effects in cat striate cortex elicited by moving texture. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>26</u>, 1055-1060.
- Hubel, D. H. and Wiesel, T. N. (1968). Receptive fields and functional architecture of monkey striate cortex. <u>Journal of Physiology</u>, <u>195</u>, 215-243.

- Julesz, B. (1971). Foundations of Cyclopean Perception. University of Chicago Press: Chicago.
- Kaji, S., and Kawabata, N. (1986). Neural interactions of two moving patterns in the direction and orientation domain in the complex cells of cat's visual cortex. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>25</u>, 749-753.
- Kaji, S. and Kawabata, N. (1985). Neural interactions of two moving patterns in the direction and orientation domain in the complex cells of cat's visual cortex. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>25</u>, 749-753.
- Lappin, J. S. and Kottas, B. L. (1981). The perceptual coherence of moving visual patterns. <u>Acta Psychologia</u>, <u>48</u>, 163-174.
- Levinson, E. and Sekuler, R., (1976). Adaptation alters perceived direction of motion. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>16</u>, 779-781.
- Levinson, E. and Sekuler, R., (1980). A two-dimensional analysis of direction-specific adaptation. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>20</u>, 103-107.
- Longuet-Higgins, H. C. and Prazdny, K. (1980). The interpretation of a moving retinal image. <u>Proceedings of the Royal Society, London, B208</u>, 385-397.
- Lund, J. S. (1988). Anatomical organization of macaque monkey striate visual cortex. <u>Annual Review of Neuroscience</u>, <u>11</u>, 253-288.
- Marr, D. and Poggio, T. (1976). Cooperative computation of stereo disparity. <u>Science</u>, <u>194</u>, 283-287.
- Manning, M. L., Finlay, D. C., and Fulham, W. R. (1991).
  Time-till-breakdown and VEP measures of short-range apparent motion.
  <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>31</u>, 1865-1874.
- Manning, M. L., and Mazzucchelli, T. (1992). Electrical responses to short-range kinematogram displays: An occipital lobe global motion process in humans? <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>32</u>, 447-451.
- Mather, G. (1980). The movement aftereffect and a distribution-shift model for coding the direction of visual movement. <u>Perception</u>, <u>9</u>, 379-292.
- Mather, G., and Moulden, B. (1980). A simultaneous shift in apparent direction: Further evidence for a "distribution-shift" model of direction coding. <u>Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology</u>, <u>32</u>, 325-333.
- Matsubara, J. and Cynader, M. (1983). The role of orientation tuning on the specificity of local intracortical connections in cat visual cortex: An anatomical and physiological study. <u>Society of Neuroscience Abstracts</u>, 9, 475.
- Mikami, A., Newsome, W. T., and Wurtz, R. H. (1986). Motion selectivity in macaque visual cortex. II. Spatiotemporal range of directional interactions in MT and V1. <u>Journal of Neurophysiology</u>, <u>55</u>, 1328-1339.
- Mitchenson, G. and Crick, F. (1982). Long axons within the striate cortex: Their distribution, orientation and patterns of connection. <u>Proceedings of</u> <u>the National Academy of Sciences</u>, <u>79</u>, 3661-3665.

- Movshon, J. A., Adelson, E. H., Gizzi, M. S., and Newsome, W. T. (1985).
  The analysis of moving visual patterns. In C. Chagas, R. Gattass, and C.
  Gross (Eds). <u>Pattern Recognition Mechanisms</u>. New York:
  Springer-Verlag.
- Muller, R., Gopfert, E., Schilykowa, L., and Anke, D. (1990). The human motion VEP as a function of size and eccentricity of the stimulation field.
   <u>Documenta Ophthalmologica</u>, <u>76</u>, 81-89.
- Murphy, B. J. (1978). Pattern thresholds for moving and stationary gratings during smooth eye movement. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>18</u>, 521-530.
- Newsome, W. T., Mikami, A., and Wurtz, R. H. (1986). Motion selectivity in macaque visual cortex. III. Psychophysics and physiology of apparent motion. Journal of Neurophysiology, 55, 1340-1351.
- Newsome, W. T. and Pare, E. B. (1988). Journal of Neuroscience, 8, 2201-2211.
- Petersen, S. E., Baker, J. F., and Allman, J. M. (1985). Direction-specific adaptation in area MT of the owl monkey. <u>Brain Research</u>, <u>346</u>, 146-150.
- Pettigrew, J. D. and Daniels, J. D. (1973). Gamma-aminobutyric acid antagonism in visual cortex: Different effects on simple, complex and hypercomplex neurons. <u>Science</u>, <u>184</u>, 81-83.
- Ramachandran, V. S. and Anstis, S. M. (1983). Extrapolation of motion path in human visual perception. <u>Vision Research</u>, 23, 83-85.

- Raymond, J. E. (1993). Movement direction analyzers: Independence and bandwidth. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>33</u>, 767-775.
- Regan, D. (1986). Visual processing of four kinds of relative motion. <u>Vision</u> <u>Research</u>, <u>26</u>, 127-145.
- Regan, D. (1989). Human Brain Electrophysiology. Elsevier: New York.
- Regan, D. and Beverley, K. I. (1980). Visual responses to changing size and to sideways motion for different directions of motion in depth:
  Linearization of visual responses. Journal of the Optical Society of America, 11, 1289-1296.
- Schiller, P. H., Finlay, B. L. and Volman, S. F. (1976). Quantitative studies of single-cell properties in monkey striate cortex. I. Spatiotemporal organization of receptive fields. <u>Journal of Neurophysiology</u>, <u>39</u>, 1288-1319.
- Sclar, G., Lennie, P. and DePriest, D. D. (1989). Contrast adaptation in striate cortex of macaque. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>29</u>, 747-755.
- Sekuler, R. and Levinson, E. (1974). Mechanism of motion perception. <u>Psychologia</u>, <u>17</u>, 38-49.
- Snowden, R. J. (1989). Motions in orthogonal directions are mutually suppressive. Journal of the Optical Society of America, 6, 1096-1101.
  Snowden, R. J. and Braddick, O.J. (1989a). The combination of motion
  - signals over time. Vision Research, 29, 1621-1630.

- Snowden, R. J. and Braddick, O .J. (1989b). Extension of displacement limits in multiple-exposure sequences of apparent motion. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>29</u>, 1777-1787.
- Snowden, R. J. and Braddick, O .J. (1990). Differences in the processing of short-range apparent motion at small and large displacements. <u>Vision</u> <u>Research</u>, <u>30</u>, 1211-1222.
- Stecher, S., Sigel, G. and Lange, R. V. (1973). Composite adaptation and spatial frequency interactions. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>13</u>, 2527-2531.
- Tolhurst, D. J. (1972). Adaptation to square-wave gratings: Inhibition
   between spatial frequency channels in the human visual system. Journal of
   <u>Physiology (London)</u>, 226, 231-248.
- van Doorn, A. J. and Koenderink, J. J. (1984). Spatiotemporal integration in the detection of coherent motion. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>24</u>, 47-53.
- van Essen, D. C. (1985). Functional organization of primate visual cortex. In Peters, A. and Jones, E.G. (Eds). <u>Cerebral Cortex</u>, <u>3</u>, 259-329.
- Weller, R. E., Wall, J. T. and Kaas, J. H. (1984). Cortical connections in the middle temporal visual area (MT) of the superior temporal cortex of owl monkeys. <u>The Journal of Comparative Neurology</u>, 228, 81-104.
- Williams, D.W. and Phillips, G. (1987). Cooperative phenomena in the perception of motion direction. <u>Journal of the Optical Society of America</u>, <u>4</u>, 878-885.

- Williams, D. W., Phillips, G. and Sekuler, R. (1986). Hysteresis in the perception of motion direction as evidence for neural cooperativity.
   <u>Nature</u>, 324, 253-255.
- Williams, D. W. and Sekuler, R. (1984). Coherent global motion percepts from stochastic local motions. <u>Vision Research</u>, <u>24</u>, 55-62.
- Yuille, A. L., and Grzywacz, N. M. (1988). A computational theory for the perception of coherent motion. <u>Nature</u>, <u>333</u>, 71-74.
- Zeki, S. and Shipp, S. (1988). The functional logic of cortical connections. <u>Nature</u>, <u>335</u>, 311-317.